FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/8/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/7/2024 4:37 PM

Case #: 1030444

No. 58036-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WALTER GUETTER and MARIANN GUETTER, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

٧.

VIEW RIDGE ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation, and RONALD A. HAERTL and LESLIE KOLISCH, husband and wife.

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Donald G. Grant, WSBA#15480 Of Counsel for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

Petitioners are Walter Guetter and Mariann Guetter, the appellants in the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

View Ridge Ests. Homeowners Ass'n v. Guetter,
2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 674 (Docket No. 85897-1-I, April
8, 2024)(see Appendix)

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>.

ISSUE NO. 1: The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the criteria for determining whether or not a covenant is "new" or "a change to existing covenants" contrary to Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614, 616 (2014) and Twin W Owners' Ass'n v. Murphy, 26 Wn. App. 2d 494, 529 P.3d 410, 416-17 (2023)(Appendix at 8-21).

ISSUE NO. 2: The Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that an abuse of discretion, instead of a *de*

novo, standard applied on appellate review of the appropriateness of the trial court's injunctive relief; thus, determining that the trial court was not required to engage in a balancing of the equities analysis prior to entering injunctive relief contrary to Borton & Sons, Inc.

V. Burbank Props., LLC, 196 Wn. 2d 199, 471 P. 3d 871 (2020)(Appendix at 28-33).

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE.

Respondent View Ridge Estates Homeowners

Association ("View Ridge Estates") filed its Complaint

(Breach of Covenants, Injunctive Relief ("the Complaint")

against Appellants Walter Guetter and Mariann Guetter

("Guetters") on May 4, 2020. (CP 1-3) Guetters filed their

Answer and Affirmative Defenses on June 15, 2020. (CP 4-11)

The Association filed its Motion for Summary

Judgment on April 9, 2021, along with a supporting

affidavit. (CP 12-142; 147-163; 164-393) Guetters filed their Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment along with support declarations on June 7, 2021. (CP 491-751; 752-778; 779-852; 853-858; 859-952) The trial court entered an Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on September 2, 2021, granting the motion. (CP 980)

On March 28, 2022, Guetters filed a motion for partial summary judgment. (CP 1018-1025). View Ridge Estates filed a memorandum opposing Guetter's motion on April 25, 2022. (CP 1095-1100; 1101-1139). The trial court entered an Order Denying Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on July 27, 2022. (CP 1176-1177)

The trial court subsequently entered a Judgment - Injunctive Relief on December 19, 2022. (CP 1181-1183). Guetters filed a Motion for Reconsideration on

December 28, 2022, which was denied by the trial court on February 21, 2023 (CP 1184-1197; 1365-1367; 1405-1406).

Guetters filed their Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2023, with the Court of Appeals, Division II (CP 1411-1427) The Court of Appeals, Division I, entered its published decision on April 8, 2024.

IV. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>.

A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REDEFINING "NEW" VS. "AMENDED" COVENANTS IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN WILKINSON, RAP 13.4(b(1), AND THE PUBLISHED DECISION OF DIVISION III IN MURPHY, RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals determined that the covenant adopted by View Ridge Estates "constituted a change to View Ridge Estates' existing covenants, rather than an entirely new covenant" contrary to the analysis in

Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327
P.3d 614, 616 (2014), and Twin W Owners' Ass'n v.

Murphy, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 966, 529 P.3d 410,
416-17 (2023). Appendix at 20-21.

The Court of Appeals nevertheless stated:

[T]he [Wilkinson] court did not elaborate on what it meant by 'new' or 'change" . . . Moreover, the court declined to provide further guidance after recognizing 'that no Washington case has described the precise contours of when an amendment would be 'consistent with the general plan of development', nor did the court define what it meant by 'related to.'

<u>Id</u>. at 16. It also interestingly noted that "[i]ndeed, it is foreseeable that an association, in an attempt to dramatically increase or reduce existing restrictions, might constructively or inadvertently create a new covenant." <u>Id</u>. at 17, no.14.

The Washington Supreme Court has stated:

In Washington, the authority of a simple

majority of homeowners to adopt new covenants or amend existing ones in order to place new restrictions on the use of private property is limited. When the governing covenants authorize a majority of homeowners to create new restrictions unrelated to existing ones, the majority rule prevails provided that such power is exercised in a reasonable manner consistent with the general plan of the development. However, when the general plan of development permits a majority to change the covenants but not create new ones, a simple majority cannot add new restrictive covenants that are inconsistent with the general plan of development or have no relation to existing covenants. This rule protects the reasonable, settled expectation of landowners by giving them the power to block new covenants which have no relation to existing ones and deprive them of their property rights.

(emphasis added) Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 244, 327 P.3d 614, 616 (2014)(emphasis added). In Twin W Owners' Ass'n v. Murphy, 26 Wn. App. 2d 494, 529 P.3d 410, 416-17 (2023), Division III rightly refused to overrule Wilkinson and restated the rule: "Washington limits the authority of a simple majority of

homeowners to adopt new covenants or amend existing ones in order to place <u>new restrictions</u> on the use of private property." (emphasis added)

Under <u>Wilkinson</u>, the first question is whether the 1986 CC&R's expressly granted View Ridge Estates the power to adopt new covenants restricting the use of privately owned property unrelated to any existing ones or simply to make changes to pre-existing covenants.

<u>Wilkinson</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 244. If it only has the power to change existing covenants, the second question is whether the change relates to an existing covenant <u>and</u> whether it is consistent with general plan of development.

<u>Id</u>.

Article X, Section 3, of the 1986 CC&Rs of View Ridge Estates only permits the "amendment" of them (e.g., "The covenants and restrictions of this Declaration may be amended. . ."), but does not provide express

authorization to create new view restrictions or to create new restrictions unrelated to the existing ones. In any event, view restrictions for vegetation, trees, and landscaping were not contemplated nor prohibited in the 1986 CC&Rs and would not be consistent with the general plan of development of View Ridge Estates (e.g., "Any proposed amendment must be consistent with the approved development plan. . ."). (CP 209)

Petitioner Mariann Guetter's declaration stated:

25. In fact, there were no view restrictions on vegetation until the Restated CC&Rs were enacted in late 2018. There is not a single reference to restriction on landscaping nor vegetation to enhance any views in any prior governing document of View Ridge Estates.

(CP 509-13)

Several of the Association's officers testified by deposition. Andrew Glikbarg, an attorney and Board of Directors member, testified that the prior CC&Rs did not

"specifically address view." (CP at 787) Glikbarg was not aware "of any documentation that might support the original declarants' intent." (CP at 789) John Meader, an attorney and Landscape Committee (LC) and Governing Documents Committee (GDC) member, admitted: "There was a provision in the original CC&Rs talking about views but I believe that it had to do with the architectural and not the vegetation." (CP at 818) Some owners wanted the CC&Rs revised to add the protection of view from "vegetation meaning trees, shrubs, and that type of thing." (CP 818) However, he admitted that the 1986 CC&Rs had "no view restrictions for vegetation or trees." (CP 819)

Guetters purchased their Premises in 2004 prior to the existence of any "view" restrictions and planted no additional trees PRIOR to the Restated CC&Rs being recorded fourteen years later in 2018. (CP 496) The "plan of development" did not provide for any protection of views from vegetation, trees, or landscaping in 2004. (CP 492-96) The 1986 CC&Rs did not permit the Association to create new restrictions, but simply to "amend" the "covenants and restrictions of this Declaration[.]" (CP 209)

Guetters additionally possessed legitimate concerns about the soil stability on their Premises due to the extreme slope, standing water, current cracks and crumbling of their front yard retaining wall after removal of two cherry trees, and prior remediation efforts of Drainage Masters. (CP 493, 494-95) View Ridge Estates had refused to dialogue with the Guetters about these concerns except to tell them that "it's your problem." (CP 502-03) Additionally, its agents simply did not and still do not care about any geotech problems on the Premises and the significant costs of remediation. John Meader,

an attorney and Chair of the GDC, testified that it did not ask for any geotech engineer opinions because "it's the individual owner's responsibility to maintain the stability of their own property[.](CP 831) Meader further testified that he was aware of landslides on the Faherty lot which cost them "an astronomical amount of money"[.](CP 831)

Guetters' geotechnical expert, Troy Hull, assisted in the analysis of prior landslides on the Faherty lot (just two lots away from the Guetter lot and on the same steep slope) which required expensive remediation activities costing the Fahertys "an astronomical amount of money." (CP 861-63) He also evaluated the Guetter lot and opined: "By requiring you to cut these particular trees adjacent to the top of a known landslide, the HOA could be inviting you to potentially repeat the same type of landsliding that occurred at the Faherty residence." (CP 863-65) Additionally, Hull recommended the installation of

a retaining wall with an estimated costs of at least \$189,295. (CP 866)

Initially, the Court of Appeals agreed with Guetters that the "governing covenants authorized its members to change its existing covenants, but not to create new ones." Appendix at 13. Second, however, it stated:

[A] change to existing covenants must result in something different from which results from those covenants already in place. If that is so, and a change can <u>neither</u> eliminate existing covenants <u>nor innovate</u> a covenant, then such a difference must instead *modify* those covenants already in place.

ld. at 16-17 (italics in original; other emphasis added).1

Moreover, it incorrectly determined: "View Ridge
Estates' view obstruction adopted covenant constitutes a
change to existing covenants not the creation of a new

It might be noted that View Ridge completely overhauled its CC&Rs with entirely new view restrictions on vegetation and trees instead of simply amending certain existing restrictions. The differences between "innovate" and "modify," as used by the Court of Appeals, are semantic differences without any realistic distinction.

covenant. The adopted covenant in question modified those restrictions, as pertinent here, increasing the height constituting an obstruction to 15 feet and expanding the type of obstructing object to trees and vegetation." <u>Id</u>. at 19-20.²

Wilkinson, as the Court of Appeals noted, failed to "elaborate on what it meant by 'new' or 'change."

Appendix at 16. However, Wilkinson did set forth some parameters and did not leave litigants and lower courts completely guessing on the realistic interpretation of "new" or "change." A reductive semantic (or dictionary) approach to the meanings of "new" and "change" can lead one astray as the Court of Appeals recognized. Id. at 17, n.14 ("constructively or inadvertently create an

[&]quot;Innovate" might ironically be more semantically correct than "modify" in this context.

entirely new covenant").³ Nonetheless, <u>Wilkinson</u> stated that "the authority of a simply majority of homeowners to adopt new covenants <u>or</u> amend existing ones in order to place <u>new restrictions</u> on the use of private property is limited." <u>Wilkinson</u> at 255-56 (emphasis added).

Moreover, Wilkinson explicitly stated:

This rule protects the <u>reasonable expectation</u> of landowners by giving them the power to block 'new covenants which have no relation to existing ones' and deprive them of their <u>property rights</u>.

Id. at 256, quoting Meresse v. Stelma, 100 Wn. App.857,866, 999 P.2d 1267 (2000)(emphasis added).

In referencing Wilkinson, Division III stated:

The law refuses to subject a minority of landowners to **unlimited and unexpected**

Distinguishing between "new" and "existing" covenant provisions, without interpreting the realist effect of such covenants may result in false dichotomy, wooden application of those terms, and a disregard of the "new deprivations" and "new restrictions" contrary the "reasonable expectations" of homeowners. See, Murphy, at 26 Wn. App. 505-06.

restrictions on the use of their land merely because the covenant agreement permitted a majority to make changes to existing covenants. Meresse v. Stelma, 100 Wn. App.857, 866, 999 P.2d 1267 (2000). The rule protects the reasonable expectations of landowners to resist **new deprivations** to property rights. Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, 180 Wn.2d 241, 256 (2014). This court examines whether existing covenants provide an "express reservation of power authorizing less than 100 percent of property owners within a subdivision to adopt **new restrictions** respecting the use of privately owned property." Shafer v. Board of Trustees of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc., 76 Wn. App. 267, 273, 883 P.2d 1387 (1994).

Twin W Owners' Ass'n v. Murphy, 26 Wn. App. 2d 494, 529 P.3d 410, 416-17 (2023)(emphasis added).

The emphases in <u>Wilkinson</u> and <u>Murphy</u> are on "unlimited and unexpected restrictions," "reasonable expectations", "new deprivations," and "new restrictions" not on a wooden, perhaps semantic or dictionary, interpretation of "new" and "existing" covenant restrictions

as adopted by the Court of Appeals in this appeal. It stated that, "in Wilkinson, the adopted covenant was new because it contained restrictions not grounded in any existing covenants." Appendix at 16. Further: "in Murphy, the adopted covenant was new because it contained restrictions not grounded in any existing covenants." Id. The Court of Appeals did not provide any analysis of the major issues pertaining to Wilkinson and Murphy (e.g. "unlimited and unexpected restrictions," "reasonable expectations", "new deprivations," and "new restrictions"). However, it did state that "[i]ndeed, it is foreseeable that an association in an attempt to dramatically increase or reduce existing restrictions might constructively or inadvertently create an entirely new covenant." Id. at 17, n. 14. This "foreseeable" event is exactly what occurred to the Guetters in this litigation.

Petitioners request the Washington Supreme Court

to accept their Petition for Review in order to overturn the decision of the Court of Appeals and/or to issue clarifications to the decision in <u>Wilkinson</u> as interpreted by <u>Murphy</u>. The substantial rights of homeowners and homeowner associations in Washington continue to hinge on the various interpretations of <u>Wilkinson</u> through the creation of amended covenants and restrictions.

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DETERMINING THAT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, INSTEAD OF A DE NOVO, STANDARD APPLIED ON APPELLATE REVIEW AND DETERMINING THEREBY THAT THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO ENGAGE IN A BALANCING OF EQUITIES PRIOR TO ENTERING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IS CONTRARY TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT DECISION IN BORTON, RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In <u>Borton & Sons, Inc. V. Burbank Props., LLC</u>, 196
Wn. 2d 199, 471 P. 3d 871 (2020), the Washington
Supreme Court stated: "[T]he question of whether

equitable relief is appropriate is a question of law." <u>Id</u>. at 205-06.

In that case, the issue was whether a lessee could not be granted an equitable grace period as a matter of law. The trial court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment in determining that it was entitled to an equitable grace period to exercise the option. Division III of of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court in a split decision. The lead opinion "held that a *de novo* review of the summary judgment order was correct, while the concurring opinion held that an abuse of discretion standard was proper. . . The dissenting opinion opted to avoid the issue." Borton, 196 Wn. 2d at 205.

The Washington Supreme Court held that the "lead opinion" was correct and that the "standard of review is de novo because the question presented is not how the trial court fashioned the equitable remedy, but whether

the court had discretion to grant lessee equitable relief as a matter of law." <u>Borton</u>, 196 Wn. 2d at 205. The court stated:

As a general rule, we review summary judgment orders *de novo* and engage in the same analysis as the trial court. [citations omitted] Summary judgment is appropriate only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). . .

In contrast, we review the fashioning of equitable remedies for an abuse of discretion because trial courts have "broad discretionary power to fashion equitable remedies." [citation omitted] Thus, the standard of review depends on the question presented, because "[w]hile the fashioning of the remedy may be reviewed for abuse of discretion, the question of whether equitable relief is appropriate is a question of law."

[citation omitted] <u>Borton</u>, 196 Wn. 2d at 205-06 (emphasis added)(*citing* <u>Pardee v. Jolly</u>, 163 Wn.2d 558, 182 P.3d 967 (2008)(*de novo*); <u>Crafts v. Pitts</u>, 161 Wn.2d 16, 162 P.3d 382 (2007)(*de novo*)).

Significant issues in this appeal included, but were not limited to, whether or not equitable relief was appropriate as a matter of law based on the View Ridge Estate's improperly adopting the Revised CC&Rs, its fraudulently obtaining the signatures of the Guetters on the "signature page" without disclosing the entire document, its adopting ambiguous and subjective Revised CC&Rs with unreasonable interpretations, its inability to satisfy the legal standards for per se injunctive relief, its failure to rebut the Guetters' arguments of balancing the equities, relative hardships, and innocence of conduct. Specifically, View Ridge Estate's failure to rebut, or even address, the appropriateness of injunctive relief requiring the clear-cutting of the Guetters' property in a situation where the significant risk of landslides exists due to geological hazards on a steep slope with remediation costs for slope stabilization nearing

\$200,000.00 required a balancing of the equities. *See* Appellants' Reply Brief at 3-4.

In this case, the Court of Appeals reviewed the injunctive issues on an "abuse of discretion" standard even though it quoted from Borton. Appendix at 25-31. In doing so, it ignored the significant issues of injunctive relief and balancing of the equities (e.g., fraudulent obtaining signatures, innocence of conduct, relative hardships to Petitioner to clear cut their property and incur \$200,000 in slope remediation costs for stabilization, etc.). See Appellants' Reply Brief at 3-4.

Instead, the Court of Appeals glossed over these injunctive issue basically by stating:

In weighing the equities, the court was provided with a wide range of equitable relief. Here, the court fashioned a remedy calculated to cure the breach while balancing the impact of the remedy by allowing the Guetters to select the method by which the violation was to be cured (trimming, topping, or removing).

Appendix at 30. In reality, "trimming, topping, or removing" are one and the same remedy and no "wide range" of options were considered by the trial court.

The record includes the opinions of the Guetters' expert witness, Troy Hull. His opinion, not challenged nor refuted by View Ridge Estates, stated:

For your property, while we understand the HOA is not requiring you to remove your trees, for all intents and purposes, we are assuming the trees are effectively being removed because trimming them to 6 feet off the ground will kill them or at least remove their canopy (i.e. branches with leaves or needles). My opinion is consistent with that of Jeff Day, New Day Arborist, who provided the Guetters with an analysis on September 10, 2020[.]

(CP 863-64, 932-38) In addition, he opined:

If these trees are trimmed back such that their canopy is reduced or eliminated, there is increased risk of activating the very large landslide area to the east, which could damage the green space property, your home, as well as surrounding properties to the north and south. We have already had an

example of this in 2015 when a very large landslide was activated 2 lots to the north (Faherty residence) where Google Earth shows that trees were removed to create a large landscaped area. After the trees were removed a very large landslide occurred. We are trying to avoid causing this same scenario on your property as it could be catastrophic to your home, as well as the neighbor to the immediate north. By requiring you to cut these particular trees adjacent to the top of a known landslide, the HOA could be inviting you to potentially repeat the same type of landsliding that occurred at the Faherty residence.

(emphasis added)(CP 936-37)(Mr. Hull estimated a minimum cost of \$189,295 to remediate the landslide risk if the trees are essentially removed). (CP 866, 941-52)

Petitioners believe that a *de novo* review was appropriate for analysis of the trial court's injunction under <u>Borton</u> to address the appropriateness of equitable relief under these circumstances.

V. CONCLUSION.

Based on the foregoing, Petitioners are requesting the Washington Supreme Court to grant their Petition for Review to address these legal issues.

I CERTIFY PURSUANT TO RAP 18.17(c)(2) THAT APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR **REVIEW WITH WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT, EXCLUSIVE OF WORDS** CONTAINED IN THE APPENDICES, THE TITLE SHEET, THE TABLE OF CONTENTS, THE TABLE OF AUTHORITIES, THIS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE, THE **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE, SIGNATURE BLOCKS, AND PICTORIAL IMAGES CONTAIN 3716 WORDS PURSUANT TO** THE WORDPERFECT WORD COUNT CALCULATION USED TO PREPARE THIS **DOCUMENT AND IS PRESENTED IN SANS SERIF ARIAL 14 FONT PURSUANT TO RAP** 18.17(a)(2).