FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/6/2024 11:59 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1030444 Court of Appeals No. 858971 – Division I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_

WALTER GUETTER and MARIANN GUETTER, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

VIEW RIDGE ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation, and

RONALD A. HAERTL and LESLIE KOLISCH, husband and wife,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

# RESPONDENT VIEW RIDGE ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Michael J. A. Vial, WSBA#47265

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts and procedural history of this case are well stated in the decision of the Court of Appeals and do not bear repeating here.

### III. STANDARD FOR GRANTING REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the standard for this Court granting discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

### RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added)

As a general matter, petitions for discretionary review will not be granted in order to resolve disputes regarding factual disputes or the sufficiency of the evidence.

"There is little controversy over applicable law, and, as noted by the dissenting judge in Hojem, the only issue is whether there was sufficient evidence of defendants' negligence to support the verdict. In retrospect, this may well be a case of a petition for discretionary review improvidently granted."

Hojem v. Kelly, 93 Wash.2d 143, 606 P.2d 275 (1980) (emphasis added).

### IV. ARGUMENT

Petitioners seek review on two issues, in both cases arguing that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals.

The Petition should be denied because it fails to actually identify any such conflict. As in the *Hojem* case, the applicable law is not in dispute. Both parties, and Division I of the Court of Appeals agree that this Court's decision in *Wilkinson v*.

Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wash.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014) is controlling. Petitioners' Petition is largely devoted to arguments about the weight of the evidence and the alleged inequities that they will suffer if the decision is allowed to

stand. A Petition for Discretionary Review cannot and should not be granted to review such issues.

### A. Issue Number 1. – No Conflict with the *Wilkinson* decision.

Petitioners do not appear to take issue with the Court of Appeals' analysis of this Court's standard, as articulated in *Wilkinson*, for determining when the members of a homeowners association can adopt new covenants or change an existing covenant. In its decision, the Court of Appeals described its task as follows:

"Their challenge relies on our Supreme Court's decision in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wash.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014), thereby requiring that we determine whether View Ridge Estates' governing covenants granted its members the authority to adopt new covenants or only to change its existing covenants, whether the view obstruction covenant adopted herein constituted an entirely new covenant or simply a change to View Ridge Estates' existing covenants, and whether View Ridge Estates obtained the requisite support from its members to adopt such a covenant."

546 P.3d 463 (2024) at 469, ¶1.

"a reviewing court must determine whether the adopted covenant in question is a new one or a changed one. An adopted covenant is "new," according to the court, when it is "inconsistent with the general plan of development or [has] no

relation to existing covenants." An adopted covenant is a "change," according to the court, when it is "consistent with the general plan of development and related to an existing covenant."

546 P 3d 463 (2024) at 473 474 \$\Pi\text{25}\$ (internal citations)

546 P.3d 463 (2024) at 473-474, ¶25 (internal citations omitted).

This Court held in *Wilkinson* that the homeowners association's new covenant prohibiting short-term rentals, which was adopted by a majority vote of the owners, was an impermissible new covenant, rather than a permissible changed covenant, because it bore no relation to the original covenants. The association's original covenants, rather than restricting rentals or giving the Board the power to do so, did not prohibit or limit owners' right to rent at all, and, in fact, specifically anticipated and permitted rentals. *Wilkinson* at 251, ¶14, 252, ¶17.

As the Court of Appeals correctly held, the tree / view restrictions in the amended 2018 Declaration were a change to the existing covenants, and consistent with the general plan of development because the existing covenants already protected

the views of the lot owners with view restrictions limiting the height of structures, and imposed restrictions on the use of lots intended to protect other owner's enjoyment of their lots. (CP 179, 206), 546 P.3d 463 (2024) at 469-70, ¶5. The Court of Appeals also correctly noted that the word "view" appears as the seventh word in the original declaration of covenants, and is the first word of in the name of the Association. 546 P.3d 463 (2024) at 477, ¶43.

In addition, the original 1982 and 1986 Declaration, at Article VII gives Respondent's Board the very broad authority to regulate the maintenance of lots:

In the event an owner of any lot in the properties, shall fail to maintain the premises and the improvements situated thereon in a manner satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, the Association, after approval of two-thirds (2/3rds) vote by the Board of Trustees, shall have the right, through its agents and employees, to enter upon said parcel and to repair, maintain, and restore the lot and the exterior of the buildings and any other improvements thereon. The cost of such exterior maintenance shall be added to and become a part of the assessment to which such lot is subject.

(CP 179, 206). It certainly stands to reason that the

maintenance of lots would include the maintenance of trees and other landscaping "in a manner satisfactory to the Board."

Petitioners suggest (but do not outright allege) that Division I's decision in the present case is in conflict with the decision of Division III in Twin W Owners' Association v. Murphy, 26 Wash.App.2d 494, 529 P.3d 410 (2023). Petitioners are incorrect. The Twin W Owners' decision concerned another homeowners association covenant amendment that restricted short term rentals, where there was no restriction on rentals at all in the existing covenants. While the Court of Appeals, Division III mused about various issues and lightly derided this Court's analysis in Wilkinson, including a footnote mentioning the prospect of a change to the covenants being the functional equivalent of a new covenant, the decision is entirely consistent with both Wilkinson and Division I's decision in the present case. There is simply no conflict between Division I and Division III that would justify review by this Court.

The Court of Appeals, Division I correctly articulated this Court's standard for determining the validity of "new" or "changed" covenants and correctly applied that standard to the amended covenants at issue in this case.

## B. Division I Applied the Proper Standard of Review for Injunctive Relief.

Petitioners seem to have misread the Court of Appeal's decision with regard to the standard of review for a trial court's granting of equitable relief. Petitioners are correct in asserting that this Court's decision *Borton & Sons, Inc. V. Burbank*Props., LLC, 196 Wn. 2d 199, 471 P. 3d 871 (2020) requires that a party's entitlement to injunctive relief be reviewed de novo, while the fashioning of the injunction be reviewed for abuse of discretion. However, Petitioners seem to have missed the fact that the Court of Appeals applied this exact standard to their review of the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent. 546 P.3d 463 (2024) at 479-482, ¶54-72.

The Court of Appeals first conducted a *de novo* review of the trial court's grant of injunctive relief by reviewing the applicable case law regarding the appropriateness of injunctive relief to enforce compliance with restrictive covenants, and applied that authority to the facts of this case. Id. at 479-480, ¶54-79. The Court of Appeals held that injunctive relief was appropriate under this analysis. Id. at 481, ¶60. The Court of Appeals next reviewed the applicable case law, and the injunction fashioned by the trial court for abuse of discretion, and found that the trial court did in fact appropriately weigh the equities in fashioning its remedy. Id. at 481, ¶61-67. Petitioners may not agree with the trial court's determination, but they cite no authority for the proposition that the Court of Appeals should, or even can, review the fashioning of an equitable remedy de novo.

### V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied. Petitioners have failed to identify any conflict between the Court of

Appeals decision and any decision by this Court or any other division of the Court of Appeals. Petitioners have likewise failed to identify any other basis upon which discretionary review could be granted.